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  Preface



It has been great fun writing the Steve Regan Undercover Cop Thriller series and creating not only his character, but all the other major characters in the series. 

It appears many readers have also enjoyed the series which at present stands at the three books in this box set. I say that as many expressed disappointment the series was over after the third book, Rivers of Blood. But, good news and by popular request - a prequel titled The Secret will soon be released. 

It is on pre-order now at these bookstores for ONLY 0.99. 




[image: Image]

COMING SOON

Furthermore, a sequel and final fifth book in the series will be released in either late 2020 or early 2021. 

Eventually, the series will be bundled into a five-book box set for all those who love binge-reading in one box set. 

One final request: please try to leave reviews at your favourite bookstore once you have read the books. They do mean so much to authors. 

You can discover all my other books in the ‘Also By’ section at the end of this collection. 




Happy reading! - Stephen






I

Book One





Who The F*ck Am I?

Book One Steve Regan Undercover Cop Thrillers




Stephen Bentley 
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The following story in Book One is set in 1976. Back then, few people knew of the existence of GCHQ. Perhaps some vaguely knew it had connections to Bletchley Park and the cracking of the Enigma Code during World War Two. The end of that war saw the beginnings of the Cold War. It is then that the work of GCHQ expanded.

GCHQ, as the Government Communications Headquarters is better known, is housed in Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, England. Most people know it as the eyes and ears  of the United Kingdom government. Some know it as “spooksville,” using the Americanism of “spook” rather than the British “spy.” It employs “spies in the sky” as well as other sophisticated eavesdropping devices to monitor activities deemed to be injurious to the state or its allies. Its work, of necessity, is shrouded in secrecy.

What is not generally known is this organisation is also tasked with assisting in intelligence gathering to combat serious organised crime. Just like invisible eyes and ears, it oversees many law enforcement activities including police and Customs undercover operations. It oversees in the sense it watches and listens and gathers intelligence. To be precise, one department holds this brief – the Composite Signals Organisation (CSO).

The employees at GCHQ may as well have no name. They are faceless civil servants, UK government employees. They are not spies nor are they law enforcement officers. Some, like an anonymous middle-aged man I will call Jack, are frustrated cops. They see and hear of the exciting adrenaline fuelled lives of the men and women in the field. They marvel at the skills deployed by the undercover operatives living duplicitous lives and the inherent danger they place themselves in. Jack was fascinated by all of that. Jack knew he was good at his job within CSO and was content to play a role in the fight against crime and terrorism; a desk bound role that fulfilled him until he heard some terrible news from an old friend.
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The Canadian could be an assassin. For sure, a big player dealing in vast quantities of heroin and cocaine. Bolivia is the source of the cocaine powder. It arrived into his control in an almost one hundred percent form. By the time it reached the streets of London it became a changed beast. If lucky, you may have had a purity of forty-five percent. 

He did not control the chain of distribution all the way to street-level dealers. No need for that. Way too risky and more importantly, by the time he sold a one-pound ‘weight’ to Steve Regan, he had made a handsome profit.

Regan is the British man talking to the Canadian in a Liverpool nightclub in 1976. Coke, charlie or snow, to use some of its names, remained the preserve of the wealthy in 1976. Expensive, but popular with rock stars. A massive market and a huge opportunity for profit existed in Britain. 

The deal had been laid out on the table. The Canadian and Regan became parties to a conspiracy to import serious weights of cocaine into Britain. 

The Canadian’s mood changed. Why? Not clear to Regan at all. Without him revealing too many details, the Canadian had impressed with the plan. 


	Bolivia – check!

	Go-fast boat in place – check!

	Air hostess to bring the contraband into Britain – check!

	Prices and discounts for quantity – check!




Snap! The mood did change, and how!

“Are you guys cops?” 

Wham! This question hit Regan like a vivid lightning strike from a clear blue sky. The words rolled around inside his head like rolling thunder.

A simulated assassination followed. A double-tap from a silenced semi-automatic pistol favoured by professional hitmen the world over. A close-range execution.

He raised one hand next to Regan’s head. The Canadian pointed his joined forefinger and middle finger in imitating a gun. The fingers touched the skin.

He silently mouthed the silenced spitting sound as two imaginary shells splattered Regan’s brains out of the gaping exit wounds at the far side of his head.

Pop! Pop!

This is personal, thought Regan.

* * *




Welcome to Steve Regan’s world, the world of an undercover cop, identity confusion; a world with the slimmest of hold on reality or his true identity. He moves chameleon-like in the underworld mixing with those who inhabit dark places. 

He is a man more likely to say, “Who the fuck am I?” when catching his reflection in a mirror, and most unlikely to utter a polite, “who am I?”
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Liverpool, England, September 1976







Regan had dozed on the long journey to Liverpool. He snoozed, no more than a cat nap. Who the fuck am I? was the theme of his dream fuelled by identity confusion. He also had a fear of talking in his sleep. Undercover cop Steve Regan trusted his partner with his life and was further relaxed knowing Red knew how to drive well – funny how good drivers have a sixth sense.   Knowing he was safe with him, Regan dozed. He dreamed. Regan dreamed of people in his secret real world. He dreamed about his sick mother and his wife and daughter.

There was one other man in the vehicle besides Regan and Red. He was called Blue. He looked like a hippie and wore a leather Stetson hat. Little did Regan know how things would turn out at the end of this journey. He had no idea that in just a few hours a cold-eyed mobster would threaten his life. Regan possessed a quickness of thoughts and an uncanny ability to smell trouble. This time, Regan’s sixth sense did not see the threat coming.

The noise of a car horn woke Regan. Through half-closed eyes he saw the Jaguar overtake the van. What a beautiful machine! Sleek, powerful and sexy! My police pay could never afford one of those. Those kind of thoughts were a recurring theme for him. Steve Regan was not his real name. That was the name on his fake driving licence, a part of his legend, or backstory. Red drove an old blue van, also part of the legend with a ghost registration.

The Jaguar pulled into a gravelled drive and crunched to a halt outside a large, white two-storey detached house. As they drove by, Regan noticed long slender legs swing out from the driver’s side. She had beautiful blonde hair blowing in the breeze. He felt envious. I bet her old man is a drug dealer. Why can’t I meet a rich, good-looking blonde? Fleeting thoughts, and he fell asleep again. He dreamed of money, and fears of turning into a dishonest rogue cop if offered the right drugs deal. As soon as he went through that nightmare scene, he relaxed knowing it could never happen with Red by his side, dependable, solid Red.

Regan loved the thrill of undercover work. It freed him from the tedious paperwork of ordinary police activity. It also distanced him from the petty bureaucracy of the ordinary police world, a world of ‘everything in triplicate.’ It was also a world of not ‘bucking the system.’ He had grown weary of asking why certain things were done that way. He grew even more weary of the answer, “Because we have always done it that way.” Those irritations maddened Regan and other free spirits like him. Regan detested ‘playing the game.’ Particularly when the game was self-defeating. As a young detective, he could not fathom the sense in ‘cuffing crime.’ He soon learned to ‘cuff a crime’ was to fail to record it because it screwed up the detection rate stats. Regan could not see the sense in that. They were overworked as detectives and needed manpower. Why manipulate the figures to show less crime? Less crime meant fewer detectives. Regan soon found it was better to use his intellect fighting crime rather than the status quo. Regan also did not love the feeling of being undervalued and underpaid. 

Red didn’t think about such matters. He may as well have had no first or last name as part of his legend because everyone knew him as Red owing to his long red hair and beard. He could have been an extra in a movie about raping and pillaging Vikings! Red the Viking! 

Red stopped the van somewhere outside Birkenhead. Regan woke up, startled. He had one of those Where the fuck am I? Who the fuck am I? moments, a mild panic until he recognized his surroundings and snapped into his faux identity. There was the familiar sinking feeling in the pit of his stomach in those moments. The feeling translated into a question in his head - Did I talk in my sleep? There was always a moment of panic, then relief as his secret was still safe. His sleeping lips had stayed immobile. Only he knew the answer to ‘Who the fuck am I?’

The sight of Blue in the van also jolted him back to reality; that and the sound of Red’s voice. They had met Blue about six months earlier. Blue was a part of the ‘hippie scene’ in mid-Wales where Regan and Red had established themselves to infiltrate an LSD drugs gang, a police investigation known as Operation Perfume. Both men were undercover for twelve months, a year of ‘living a lie’ as infiltrators. The first few months had been spent living in the van. It was an old Ford Transit with faded, blistered, pale blue paint, its panels decorated with many scratches and streaks of surface rust. But it had been home for the two undercover cops, evidenced by the mattresses, sleeping bags and detritus that had gathered over time in the back of the van. 

“Steve, shift yer arse. It’s your turn to drive. We’ll be at the Mersey Tunnel in a few minutes,” rang out the unmistakable West Country tones of Red.

That was the arrangement. Regan knew Liverpool and reckoned he could find the hotel in Mount Pleasant, where Blue had arranged to meet his Canadian friend, Bill. The two undercover cops had agreed to drive Blue to Liverpool to meet the Canadian. Blue had said enough to whet their appetite. Bill sounded like a ‘player’ in the drugs world.

The hotel had seen better days. The disinterested receptionist told all three men to go to Room 207. Bill let them into the room. Blue and Bill chatted and caught up on old times. Regan and his partner drank the whiskey that Bill poured and listened. An hour passed before Bill wanted a change of scenery.

“Pint of Guinness for me,” Regan said, as all four men walked into the American Bar in Lime Street. Blue went to the bar and ordered the drinks. In fact, he had bought most of the drinks on the way to Liverpool from Wales as his way of saying thanks for the ride. But on this occasion Bill handed him a fistful of £20 notes before Blue left the table. They settled into a dark corner of the bar, seated at a dirty greasy table that had seen gallons of beer spills in its lifetime. The beer mats stuck to the veneered top. They made a ‘glooping’ sound as Regan tried to reposition one.

“These are the two guys I was telling you about,” Blue said. 

Bill sort of grunted. They carried on sitting at the dirty table, Blue now doing most of the talking. Regan weighed Bill up, taking a good look at his face and the eyes in particular. Cold grey eyes like a dead fish. But they were fish eyes set in a bloated face. Regan could not see any glint, soul, or expression in them. Just dead. On occasions Bill would turn his gaze in turn to either Red or Regan. Sinister, Regan thought and believed he was a serious ‘player.’ 

The chat, mainly by Blue, carried on for about an hour. During that time the cops learned that Bill, although a Canadian, spent most of his time in Miami, Florida. Bill also confirmed that he had been searching for a fast motorboat. The search had taken him not only to the Isle of Man but also to Panama and the South of France. Regan drank his beer throughout. Time flew, and he started to think ahead about where they could carry on drinking. It was getting towards that time when it would be too late to wander into a pub unless you were in the know and could find a ‘lock-in.’

Regan had been away from Liverpool for too long to have that intimate knowledge. And besides, he would not want to risk his cover by walking into a boozer he knew well. More to the point, where the clientele knew him, the real ‘him’, well. The pub idea faded. They decided to eat, and Regan knew an Indian restaurant in nearby Bold Street.

The drinking and conversation carried on throughout the curry meal. Bill had now regained the lead role in the talking stakes. He was telling Blue how much he needed to find a fast eighty-foot boat. Bill spoke to the undercover cops directly for the first time.

“Listen I’ve got an operation going over in BC involving snow, not any old shit, got my markets, nothing over here. Coke is pure, straight from Bolivia. Retails at $24,000 a pound. If you guys are into that sort of bread, then I may be your man. What do you say to that?”

Blue pushed back his Stetson and said, “Listen, Bill, these two guys are my friends, now we’re out for the night let’s not talk about this.”

“Excuse me, excuse me, Blue, Blue, Blue - let the guys think about it and sleep on it.”

There was no more conversation about cocaine in the restaurant. But they spoke with a friendly waiter. He gave them a quick guide to clubs to go to, hookers and prices and he mentioned the She Club. Regan knew it and they decided to go there. The waiter arranged for a taxi to take them. The only problem Regan foresaw was getting past security, as it was late. They weren’t members nor did a member accompany them to sign in at the door. Also, they had to factor in that Red, Blue and Regan, looked like members of a rock band. Some may have said they all looked like hippies with their long hair, beards and denims. Similar but different - Red with his wild red hair and ginger beard, Blue wearing his Stetson, and Regan’s tall lean build, wearing his favourite Aviators even at night.

But there are always ‘ways and means’. Regan did the talking as he had the local dialect, a dialect distinctive throughout Britain, an accent difficult to understand to the first time listener. In his pre-undercover days, a sight of a warrant card would have guaranteed entry. But that was the old Steve - he had kept his real first name. His pleas did not impress the security gorillas. But then he glimpsed a fist reaching across towards the chief gorilla. The fist belonged to Bill. It contained at least three £20 notes, maybe a week’s wages for these guys. No one spoke another word. In place of words there was a sweeping gesture by the chief gorilla pointing towards the entrance. 

Once inside, two things happened Regan would never forget. He started dancing but kicked off his shoes on the wooden dance floor. He had always wanted to dance bare-footed and now granted himself that wish! It helped that he was now inebriated. He had no sooner got on the dance floor and started to sway solo to the rhythms when he saw a good looking, vivacious young woman. She was a brunette, slim and wearing a pencil skirt showing off her hips and legs. She joined him on the dance floor and smiled.

She laughed a lot. He liked that. He liked her. She reminded him of a woman he once knew – his deceased wife. The brunette’s constant glances at his feet made him feel a little uncomfortable; he believed he had the ugliest feet in the world. But she simply said, “I have always wanted to dance with a guy who kicks off his shoes and dances barefoot.” He liked her even more.

They danced for a while, and when the slow stuff came on, got cheek to cheek. She smelled good, too. He could feel her hips push into his groin and his ‘other brain’ reacted, pushing hard against his denim jeans. She liked that. She started to thrust and grind her hips to the beat of the music, a slow and sensuous rhythm. He found out she was a nurse at a local hospital and clubbing with her friend, also a nurse, on their night off. She had all night free and threw in for good measure that she wasn’t in any rush in the morning.

Regan could not believe his luck.








  
  4

  
  
  Three

  
  




Later, Regan and the sexy nurse made their way over to the table where Red, Blue and Bill were sitting, drinking and talking. Regan’s new friend called out to her co-worker to join them. They now had a six-some! The girls went to the bathroom to powder their noses. The four guys started to chat. This is when the second unforgettable thing happened.

While Regan had been dancing, Red, Blue and Bill had clearly gotten around to talking business, drug smuggling. Red later told Regan the gist of the conversation that took place while he got busy on the dance floor.

Bill said to Red, “You guys are into a bit of business with shit, right? You’ll have to think about what I said.”

“Sounds a bit heavy to me,” Red replied.

“You must have a man somewhere.”

Red responded, “It’s no good me saying yes or no until I’ve seen him though, is it?”

“Sure, Ginger, we’re talking about a lot of bread now and in the future. Talking of bread, do you know anyone who will handle jewellery?”

“Warm?”

“Hot.”

“Not really my area,” came Red’s reply.

Bill carried on, telling Red about a con trick to make $100 a day through his version of ringing the changes. Then he reverted to the topic of cocaine. Telling how he paid couriers $500 a trip, evading customs and using fast boats. Red listened and made a mental note of it all. There was also talk about legitimate businesses based in places like Nassau, Barbados, Antigua, Argentina, Panama, Miami, Georgetown Guyana and Vancouver Island.

Regan missed all this because he had been getting ‘hot’ on the dance floor. But no sooner had the girls left to go to the toilet, Red announced, “Ask him. I’m sure he will be okay with it.” He nodded towards Regan, his partner.

Regan thought, but dare not say, what the fuck is he on about!

Blue spoke up, “Bill wants to know if you two can organize bringing a few keys of snow into Europe from Miami.”

Fuck me! Regan thought but managed to keep a poker face.

The girls were away for about thirty minutes so this next conversation happened over ten minutes, more or less.

“Yeah. It can be done,” Regan said.

He paused then added, “Obviously depends on a few things but yeah, it’s a go’er.”

Bill had been quiet since Regan arrived back at the table. It made Regan jump a little when he spoke. Bill broke out from his taciturn shell by drawling on about how he was ‘connected.’ And how he was talking to the top echelon of the ‘Cartel.’ Of course, Regan knew he was referring to the drug gangs of South America. They were some of the most notorious and violent drug cartels in existence. Regan started to feel a little nervous at this point. His earlier ‘lower regions excitement’ now subsided; an ‘excitement’ provoked by his newfound female companion. She had become secondary.

Bill ceased talking just like he started. No warning. No intros and no endings. One minute there were words and then nothing. It unsettled Regan. Total silence took over the whole table. Regan knew few people can deal with silence that goes on for longer than a few seconds. It feels uncomfortable. Many stupid people feel an urgent need to fill the verbal vacuum. Often with crap. Regan knew this was not an occasion to become a stupid person. 

All kinds of thoughts started to rush around his head. Regan thought, What if this? What if that?

Regan had often maintained no one can train cops about such situations or teach them how to react. He knew it’s not possible to go to undercover class to learn how to cope. He also knew calmness is inbuilt. Regan believed you either have it or you don’t. It’s that simple. Perhaps the silence lasted for about one minute. Or longer?

During the whole time Bill and Regan stared at each other. Not in any kind of confrontational way – just staring. Holding eye contact between the two of them. Bill’s cold grey eyes gave nothing away. Regan thought he had the eyes of a killer. He could be a killer. He’s a gangster - part of the mob. At that point Bill’s mouth moved again, no warning, not even a clearing of the throat.

“Are you guys cops?”

Wham! Fuck! Regan thought. The question rattled around inside Regan’s brain. He knew it was often asked when undercover. Regan knew the first time was the worst. The mind raced, has my cover been blown? Am I a fucking useless undercover cop? Do I look, smell and talk like a cop?

Regan also knew it was a test. He decided to react with aggression, “You fucking what? Yeah, course I am, and you’re the fucking Pope!”

Bill laughed with his facial muscles but not with those fish eyes.

That took Regan by surprise. He didn’t think humour was part of the Canadian’s repertoire.

Then Bill’s killer look returned.

“If you guys are, then…”

The Canadian raised one hand next to Regan’s head. Then he joined his forefinger and middle finger in the shape of a gun and pointed them at Regan. The ‘gun’ rested on his head so that Regan could feel the tips of Bill’s fingers against his skin.

What followed was a simulated assassination. A ‘double-tap’ from a silenced semi-automatic pistol favoured by professional hitmen the world over. A close range execution.

Regan went cold when he saw the Canadian mouth the silenced spitting sound. Twice, as two imaginary shells splattered his brains out of the gaping exit wounds at the far side of his head. This was personal.

Pop! Pop!

Regan jumped up from his seat, pushing Bill’s hand away. Bill rose too, but Regan’s push unbalanced Bill making him stumble on the chair leg. As Bill staggered backwards, he reached down for the gun in the ankle holster. Regan knew it and clenched his fist ready to strike. He was ready to kick Bill’s hand, too. He was ready to do whatever it took.

By sheer serendipity the girls returned to the table. They had seen nothing. Regan and Bill sat down. The conversation switched to the humdrum. They had another couple of drinks each and the mood was convivial. All six left the She Club about 2 am and a taxi driver dropped them at a deserted illegal drinking den. They carried on drinking until about 6 am. The place served food too, so the night was finished off by all six eating a meal. The mood remained cordial throughout.

Regan’s newfound female companion returned to the hotel with him and stayed. They did not sleep until about 7:30 in the morning as they took plenty of time in getting to know each other well. Regan woke up about 11 am the same day and found his bed empty. She had gone. He showered and looked in the mirror as his back felt painful. She had left her mark – literally, scratches running down both sides of his back from shoulders to waist.

Two unforgettable things in one night! Perhaps three? Regan thought, I also danced barefooted!

All four guys left the hotel in Liverpool and drove back to Wales in the van.
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Liverpool to Wales, September 1976







Regan could feel his head pounding, body dehydrated. He blamed himself, too much to drink. He forced himself to concentrate. His life, and that of Red’s, may depend on him. The stakes rose during this drive back to Wales. One thought would not leave Regan – should he go rogue? It flashed through his mind like a car blinker. But he couldn’t turn it off. The thought of riches from this connection to the Bolivian and Miami cocaine trade wouldn’t leave him. Images of blondes and Jaguars ran through his head like a constant slideshow. Other images played but he forced them from his mind, images of loved ones past and present. Regan concentrated on the pleasant images. They agreed with him and stirred his inner self save for one image. It was a mental picture of his sick mother. 

It is a long drive from Liverpool to mid-Wales. Wales is a small country and has a long coastline. There are mountains between the coast and the Welsh border with England. Those mountains prevent easy road access to anywhere in the middle of Wales. The four of them crammed into the van for the arduous journey. ‘Shoulder to shoulder’ was an understatement. 

This was going to be a trip lasting several hours in the company of a gangster, Bill, and two major drug dealers in the Canadian and Blue. Yet, Regan’s main concern was the hangover. Despite the jaded feelings in body and mind Regan knuckled down and concentrated. 

Those hours in the van and the occasional pit stop gave Bill ample opportunity to talk or shut up. He talked, and if anything, his tone was more serious than the previous night.

With a face set in stone, Bill said, “Guys, this is serious shit. I need a new market and this country is it. You have all these rock bands. All those guys are serious coke heads. They need quality powder and I am Mister Quality. I need good people like you two and Blue to set up the British connection.” 

Red concentrated on driving. Regan nodded along in tune with Bill’s plan but did not speak.

Blue broke the silence, “No problem.”

Another silence.

Blue added, “The south of France too.”

“Excuse me!” Bill went red in the face and puffed out his already bloated cheeks.

“Bill, it’s the jet set scene there. Millionaires, big yachts - the whole scene. Like a French Miami. We gotta get our cocaine into there, too.”

Bill punched the faded roof lining.

“Fuck me! You nearly made me crash,” shouted Red.

Bill raised his voice at Blue, “No way! You don’t take on more than one place at a time. If you get caught you only get caught in one place, not three or four! What have I told you before? You are not listening!” Bill, the teacher and Blue the student.

Bill’s outburst spelled out an abrupt end to the discussion about a new market in the south of France. Bill calmed down and started talking again about ten minutes later. Those ten minutes were uncomfortable. Bill had reinforced Regan’s thoughts of him being capable of killing.

“I got the source. No one ever forget that. Without me and Bolivia there is no coke. I can put my hands on 50-pound weight immediately. Today. One phone call.

“I’m talking $24,000 for one pound. I need to know if you guys can do it.” He carried on outlining the plan.

“A pressed pound weight is no bigger than the average size wallet. It’s easier to ship that way. Less chance of detection. It’s easily hidden. What I need to know is, can you guys do it?”

But he was in full flow now. He did not pause for an answer.

“These are some of the basic rules. No rip offs, period. Your cut is what you sell it for. My advice is don’t sell less than half weights. That way you’re not getting close to the street punks. You start at twenty-four for one shipment of one weight. Three weights twenty-three. Five or more twenty-one, maybe twenty. Okay?”

“Okay.” Regan nodded comprehensively as if this was an everyday occurrence.

“If you don’t have that kind of bread, find someone who has. But tell him the price per pound and discount for quantity …

… This is pure snow when it leaves me, you can cut it and cut it and cut it. When you buy off me it’s not like buying the shit off the street. Oh, and payment always in greenbacks.”

There was no shutting Bill up. He was on a high. A high caused by his love of money and a big score.

They stopped to stretch cramped legs, take a leak and a gulp of fresh air. The pit stop was at a roadside pub. The hangover was still hanging over Regan. He gulped down three swift pints of beer mixed with lemonade. Ah! He felt better.

This was as good as it gets in undercover work. They were now the dealers – ‘the man.’ The strange thing was that Regan did not feel excited. That was a good thing. He knew it doesn’t pay to show inner feelings when undercover. Besides, he did not feel like a cop. He was now Steve Regan, a wild, irresponsible man prepared to transgress if it produced results. The lack of excitement came naturally to him. A police supervisor’s report once recorded that if he was any more laid back he would be horizontal! Red was equally as cool. He acted with total indifference to events during the pit stop break.

Bill with his killer eyes set in a piggy face, Blue with Stetson, Red and Regan climbed back into the van. The plan was to drop off Blue and Bill near Lampeter so they could collect a rental car. Blue knew a farmer who rented out cars for hire. Before setting off again, Bill asked Blue how much he needed for the rental. 

“About £20, I guess,” Blue responded.

Bill reached down to the floor of the van and lifted his expensive looking leather attaché case to his lap. He fiddled with the combination lock until the clasps clicked open. Regan looked inside in astonishment. He saw bundles of £20 notes about one-inch-high fastened with a rubber band, about ten identical bundles. It must have totalled somewhere in the region of £10,000. That was a lot of bread! Something else caught his attention. It lay at the bottom of the case under some documents and folded shirts. It was the unmistakable blue grey colour of a protruding pistol barrel. Regan’s stomach churned as he thought about last night’s performance with the death threat.

The rest of the journey mainly consisted of Bill talking. Red and Regan listened and carefully made a mental note. Those mental notes ended up as a narrative in their report to Rick Green, the boss of Operation Perfume.

Bill explained the background to his operation. It was a one-man gig in Bolivia but helped out by two buddies. He always dealt with the same man in Bolivia and spoke with him directly. The Bolivian was not the cocoa leaf farmer. He bought the leaf and cooked it so it ended up as 100% cocaine product. That was what Bill was buying. He used five couriers to bring the product into the States and Canada. One, a former air hostess. Customs in Montreal knew her well, waved her through with a smile and a perfunctory “Hi Dawn.” Bill used a bank in the Cayman Islands to launder his drugs cash and reckoned his profits were $64,000 per month. 

He also sold himself as a promoter or fixer. A man with connections, boasting that with two phone calls he turned over one deal involving heroin worth $1,000,000 in the States. He never saw or went near the smack. Bill trusted Red and Regan. He started to push hard to find a money backer.

“There is no rush. I’ll be around for the next two weeks,” Bill drawled.

“You can get hold of me through Blue or the number I gave you,” he added. 

During the journey Bill had written down a Bristol address and telephone number. He gave it to Red as his contact details while in the UK. Not content with a huge plot to import coke into Britain, Bill revisited the issue of dealing in stolen jewellery. But, this time he extended his unlawful activities into diamond smuggling and porn. He was keen to extend his theatre of operations by recruiting the two undercover cops. 
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September 1976







Regan sighed with relief when the van reached the farm.   It had been a long day. Regan was now ready to say their farewells to Bill before they set off for Bristol. That pleasant English city was to be an overnight stop for them prior to scouring the south coast marinas for a fast motor boat. Bill wanted to stay at the Holiday Inn. Regan guessed it was because it would be a welcome change from the seedy Liverpool hotel. Plus, a well-travelled Canadian would know what to expect from a Holiday Inn whether located in Bristol, Boston, Bangkok or Bolivia.

Regan’s tall frame shuddered when Bill announced they would follow the van to Bristol. They had earlier told them that was their planned destination after arriving back in Wales. That was looking like a mistake. It concerned Regan. Before the van and the rental car set off, Bill spoke to both men, “Remember you know how to get hold of me, either through that number or Blue.”

Red, nodding, said, “It may take longer than two weeks.” 

“When you are good and ready,” came Bill’s cool reply.

Bill walked over to Regan’s side of the van. As he approached he stressed they must find ‘the man’ and as quickly as possible. Regan assured him they would talk to the right people. Bill wanted a swift yes or no.

The van led the way. After all, it was a route Red and Regan knew blindfolded. In hushed tones and sign language, Red and Regan agreed not to discuss anything in the van. There could be a bug in here, was their collective thought.   They were paranoid! 

The M32 is a short spur of a motorway that leaves the M4 Wales to London motorway, connecting Bristol City Centre with the M4. At the Bristol end of the M32 the motorway changes into a regular main road. Red pulled over in a layby and the rental car containing Bill and Blue pulled in behind. 

Red gave them directions to the Holiday Inn, Bristol and much to their relief Bill and Blue drove off toward the city centre. The normal route to Red’s home in the Bristol suburbs would have taken about ten minutes. Red drove for the next forty-five minutes all over Bristol. The van turned into a dead-end road to check if they were followed and Red adopted every single counter-surveillance tactic he could think of. Finally, content they were not being followed, both cops exhaled a simultaneous sigh of relief and the same exclamation, “Fuck me!”

This warranted a special journey into the office to brief Rick Green and make a full record of the whole episode. They did just that the next day, the report fulsome and exact. They had also gathered that Bill had a Canadian passport, a British wife and two kids resident in the Isle of Man. It was believed his net worth was about $3,000,000 despite some Canadian tax problems. But Bill did say he wasn’t sure about the exact amount as “he hadn’t counted it lately!” 

The night before seeing Rick Green, Regan had driven to his one bedroom flat an hour’s drive from Bristol. Sleep came easy to Regan. It had been an exhausting two days in the company of Bill and Blue, requiring full-on concentration to avoid any chance of a slip-up. Regan had nodded off. But he had one of those muscular spasms that jerk you out of your sleep. His thoughts turned to Bill and the events in Liverpool and the way back to Wales. He had a sixth sense something did not stack up. Something else bothered him. He could not shift the thoughts from his mind – Shall I go rogue? Can I go rogue?
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Her Majesty’s Customs and Excise, known to many as simply Customs, is an arm of the United Kingdom’s government responsible for ensuring taxes and duties payable are collected. Its remit is wide and powers draconian. It has many types of specialist investigators. Among other things, Customs is responsible for preventing and detecting the illegal import and export of controlled drugs, the investigation of organisations and individuals engaged in international drug smuggling, their prosecution and identification of the proceeds of such crime. It’s fair to say there is a blurring of jurisdictional responsibilities between it and the police when it comes to drug trafficking. The relationship between the two has often been marked by in-fighting. Customs also employs undercover agents.

The telephone could be heard ringing some fifty yards distant through the empty corridors. An agent picked up and answered the call in a breathless voice.

“Yeah, Bill here.”

“Good. I have been trying to get hold of you for two days now.”

“Right. Is there something you want?”

“No. It’s a new assignment for you.”

“You’re kidding. I just got back from Miami and was hoping to have a few days with Caroline. Can’t it wait?”

“I hear you. Come and see me tomorrow, but I need you to start next week. You aren’t travelling too far this time, Wales.”

The phone clicked dead. Bill spoke to himself, “Wales?” He thought, At least it’s August so I won’t bloody freeze to death.

Bill Morris strode through the corridors in Tintagel House until he reached the offices occupied by Customs. It was at that point he showed his official identification to an armed guard. Tintagel House is a concrete, steel and glass edifice scarring the banks of the River Thames. It was home to secretive departments belonging to both London’s Metropolitan Police and Customs. The same building, but offices separated by mutual distrust, loathing and armed guards.

Five minutes later Bill was seated in front of his boss, Dennis Marks.

“Nice suit, Bill. Milan?”

“Nope. I bought it in Hong Kong last year.”

“Good job you told me that. If it was Milan, I would have had you investigated.” No humour accompanied those words.

Bill did not react. He knew it did come from Milan and cost over £1000 but why tell. He had splurged during a shopping trip to Milan with Caroline. She and Bill were an item. In any case, Caroline Sewell could have afforded to buy it herself if she so wished. She was a successful criminal barrister with a thriving practice in London and had eyes on becoming Queen’s Counsel and a judge.

They were an odd couple to a degree. Bill was thirty-three years old, divorced, with two kids living with their mother on the Isle of Man where his ex-father in law owned a private bank. Bill was rough and ready and had married into a family with money and class. He had looks that did not stand out in a crowd. Bill was an ordinary looking guy with a chubby face and a squashed nose that threatened to spread from one side of his mouth to the other. His appearance would have been at home in a boxing ring.

Bill considered Caroline Sewell to be his new girlfriend. Caroline was from a moneyed family, old money. She had attended the finest schools in England and graduated with a First Class Honours Degree in politics, philosophy and economics from the LSE. Caroline, at thirty-nine, had lost none of her good looks. Sometimes, she could effortlessly pass for a thirty-year-old woman. She did like danger. She liked Bill because of what he did and the stories he told her. She also preferred younger men.

The two had met when she prosecuted a drug trafficking gang. It was a showpiece trial at the Old Bailey that lasted three months. Bill had been a Customs liaison officer in the case and they got to know each other. He became a frequent visitor to her luxurious Chelsea flat with a view down the River Thames towards Westminster.

The suit was one of the few extravagant items he had bought. It did not make for good practice to be too flash. He did not have the formal education of Caroline but he knew about life. He was savvy. His thoughts wandered to Caroline because his boss was boring the shit out of him. I wonder what she is doing right now, Bill thought.
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Same Month - August 1976







Caroline Sewell pushed her way aboard the crowded Tube train before the doors closed. It was hot in there and full of perspiring bodies, some of whom enjoyed the close proximity to her female shape a little too much. It was a common experience for her and many other attractive women to feel a male groin thrust in to her shapely backside. Over the years she had developed a reflex response – a sharp blow from her elbow to the sleazeball’s ribs. Thank God I only have a few stops, she thought.

Miss Sewell, as she was known to her clerks in her chambers, and similarly addressed by judges in the courtroom, had delivered her jury speech the previous afternoon. Caroline could now relax. Nothing to do the next day except to listen to the judge’s summing up and wait for the jury’s verdict. 

After leaving the Inner London Sessions courthouse close to the Elephant and Castle, she had spent the entire evening in a Fleet Street wine bar with colleagues. The Criminal Bar of England and Wales, especially in London, is as prone to gossip as many other walks of life, if not more so. As the evening drew to a close, she became the centre of gossip. Some may have called it speculation. It was the time in the legal calendar when new Queen’s Counsel were announced. Although many of her colleagues deemed her to be a racing certainty to be on the list, Caroline could only dream. It was the penultimate step to her ambition – becoming a Circuit Judge. She believed she would look good in that red sash. But what really attracted her was the pension. 

She was ruthless and didn’t care much about colleagues or friends. All she cared about was her career. It had been like that since she graduated from the London School of Economics, right through Bar School and honed through all her days practising law. She was bright, sassy, attractive with a line in humour that was … well, non-existent. Caroline saw everything and everybody as black and white. There were no shades of grey. She had realised at an early stage that remaining a barrister, even a silk, was not for her. As a barrister, she was essentially an independent contractor. A self-employed practitioner who would have to fund her own future in the shape of a pension. She had learned from Daddy the importance of a pension in her old age. Although circuit judges were not paid excessive sums of money, the pay was more than adequate. It was at retirement age she found the income to be at its most attractive, owing to a judicial pension.

Caroline soon established a steady practice within a few years of qualifying as a barrister. After ten years she was earning a high-end five figure salary. Like many at the Criminal Bar, she both prosecuted and acted as defence counsel. Of the two, she preferred to prosecute and knew it would help in her ambitions. A pleasant flat in Chelsea overlooking the River Thames soon became affordable. That is where she now lived, to all intents and purposes alone, except when she had invited male guests. They sometimes stayed one night, sometimes more and occasionally for a whole week. Part of that depended on how good they were in bed. Caroline liked strong men. She liked rough sex. If a man passed the audition, he may stay more than one night. Caroline liked a change. She didn’t want steady until she met Bill Morris. He also passed the audition in spite of his porcine looks. Caroline often fantasied about rape in her sexual liaisons. Bill was so good at that she thought sometimes he was raping her before reminding herself it was merely role playing between two consenting adults.

But steady was not an option with Bill. She had met him through his work with Customs and knew he was frequently away from London, sometimes abroad, for long stretches of time.   There was something about Bill that attracted her like no other man she had met.  He was as ruthless as she was. Bill also had connections. Those connections came as a surprise to her but she welcomed the surprise.

Running up the solid stone stairs of the old Inner London Sessions courthouse, Caroline heard her name called. Turning around, she saw her old friend Suzie . They had been at Bar School at Gray’s Inn together and shared many a secret from those heady days of hard study and even harder partying.

“Hi, Suzie!”

“Caroline, do you have a moment?”

“Sure, what gives?”

“Got any powder?”

Caroline looked beyond her colleague, checking if anyone was in earshot. She turned her head and repeated the process for what or who lay behind her. Caroline grabbed Suzie’s shoulders and shook her.

“Never, never talk about that to me in public. Got it?”

Suzie’s ashen face changed to puce. “Yeah. Sorry. Just so hung over and I need a buzz to do my jury speech.”

Grabbing her hand roughly, Caroline pulled Suzie into an empty room normally reserved for barristers to interview their clients. The door slammed shut behind them. Inside, Caroline spoke in hushed tones. Hushed but fierce at the same time. Her eyes bore into Suzie’s skull.

“Listen to me and listen good. You are two weeks into a month’s product and you are asking me for more! What the fuck, Suzie!”

“Sorry, Cee,” she replied as her eyes moistened.

“Don’t start fucking crying on me. Pull yourself together, woman.”

Suzie wiped away the teardrops. “I’m just so stressed, Cee. Using more than I usually do. You know what it’s like.”

“Well, no, I don’t, actually. For once only you can have some. Follow me.”

Like a dutiful puppy, Suzie followed Caroline to the WC used by female barristers next to the female only robing room. Caroline didn’t care if they were disturbed. She had already planned to embrace and kiss Suzie in the event they were surprised. Caroline produced a small plastic sachet and tipped half the white powder content on top of the low-level WC flush. She then chopped it with a safety razor she also kept in her purse, arranging it into two straight lines. Suzie had rolled a five pound note into a cylindrical shape. The two barristers each snorted one line of cocaine with relish. Caroline Sewell threw back her blonde hair and Suzie did the same with her long auburn hair, like an alcoholic throws back the head siphoning whiskey dregs from a near empty glass.

“Thanks, Cee.”

“Don’t ask again. You will have to wait to next month for some more. Usual or do you want more?”

“Better double it up.”

“Okay. Same routine, same money, but double.”

“Yeah, no worries.” 

Caroline was certain of her supply chain. That was the surprise of Bill’s connections.

Suzie and Caroline entered the female robing room separately to don their court attire, including the horsehair wig and barrister’s gown. Next stop for both was a coffee in the barristers’ dining area then to their respective courtrooms. They sat sipping their coffees with Callum Colhoun, a Scottish barrister. Callum and Caroline knew each other well. They had plenty in common. 

All three barristers finished the coffee and went to their respective court rooms. Suzie delivered a rousing jury speech. No one suspected it was inspired by drugs. Caroline sat quietly as the judge in her case summed up the case both for and against the accused for the benefit of the jury. His Honour Judge Pinderford finally gave the jury directions to the relevant law. The jury then retired to consider its verdict. 

The last jury member had left the courtroom when Judge Pinderford said, “Miss Sewell.”

Caroline rose to her feet, at the same time replying, “Your Honour?”

“I suppose congratulations are in order.”

“Sorry, Your Honour, I have no idea why.”

“Permit me to be the first then. You will be taking Silk.”

“Your Honour, I am ….” Caroline spluttered and was, for once in her life, at a loss for words. 

The walk back to the robing room seemed to take an age. Caroline was deep in thought. The leaked news of her impending elevation to the ranks of Queen’s Counsel, taking silk, was the next step to her ultimate goal – a judgeship. It was now imperative she kept the lid on her extra-curricular activities. Even better, she mused, time to offload them as a part of history, her personal history – baggage she would not wish anyone to discover. Who could she trust?, she thought. The answer came to her in a flash. She had earlier been drinking coffee in his company in the barristers’ dining room.

Caroline Sewell looked and talked the part of a London barrister. For work, she dressed in the uniform black skirt, black jacket and black court shoes. The white blouse was part of the barrister look. Her long blonde hair tied back with a black ribbon gave her a somewhat severe look, but was still attractive. She had clawed her way up through the thousands of hopefuls practising criminal law in London. Most were no real competition to her. They had their heads turned by the fanciful romantic notion that life at the Criminal Bar was exciting, just like those TV programmes. Caroline had soon discovered there was no romance, no excitement. It was a mixture of hard work and wearing out shoe leather travelling from one court to another. 

It was the tiring nature of the profession that first led to Caroline using cocaine. It made her feel good. The problem was that she liked it too much. It was addictive and expensive. Like most problems she encountered, Caroline found an answer. She started dealing in coke to other barristers also in need of a regular toot. Initially, it was to a select few in London. It had grown to a network of fifty and upwards throughout London, Birmingham and Manchester. She was known as ‘Lady C.’ Like Topsy, it had grown. Her driving thought now was how to end her cartel before it destroyed her ambition.

Caroline Sewell picked up the phone once she got home. She dialled and waited for someone to pick up. “Callum, it’s me, Cee. Just be a good boy and do as you are told. Don’t ask me any questions over the phone. Understood?”

Callum said, “Of course, darling.” 

“Okay, come to my place at 3 pm Saturday.”

Callum Colhoun was a London barrister with a fierce cocaine habit. He spent most of his time defending out on circuit – in the provinces – involving weeks at a time on lengthy trials away from home. Those weeks were spent in hotels, a lonely existence. Callum whiled away the leisure hours entertaining local prostitutes in the seclusion of his hotel room. They were content with the price he paid for sexual services and the copious amounts of coke he shared with them. In turn, he was content, as this way he could forget his stint in the court room defending murderers and rapists .

Caroline trusted him. He was one of her oldest customers. She spelled out the finality of her proposal to Callum. Opening the wall safe in her Chelsea flat, Caroline handed him a small black book. He now had the telephone number of a man called Dash, one of her dealers, and all her regular customers. She had two dealers. The book did not contain the name or number of the second dealer. Those details were imprinted on her memory. She knew him well. It was Bill.

“The business is yours. I just demand one thing. Never, never breathe a word to anyone about me. It’s as simple as that. Do you understand?”

Callum nodded.

“I can’t hear you,” she spat.

He said, “I hear you, loud and clear.”

“Needless to say, this meeting never happened.”

“What meeting?”

Caroline moved over to Cullum and gave him an air kiss, “Mwahhhh!”

Callum thought, Bitch! He had never liked her. He only tolerated her because she was the source of his regular supply of cocaine.

Once her colleague had left, she made a phone call from the safety of her flat. It was to the dealer she had ‘given’ to Callum. Caroline had noted it before giving away the black book. The dealer was now aware that Callum was “the man” and she had retired. 

Caroline found the corkscrew in the open kitchen and thrust it into the virgin cork of a bottle of fine claret. Time to relax, she thought. But first she went back into the wall safe and removed her own personal stash. This was ninety-five percent pure Colombian sourced from someone neither Callum, nor anyone else would ever know about, Bill.

Part of the white powder was released onto the ebony table in the living room. Chop, chop, chop - she arranged it into two similar white lines, took out her tube kept for these occasions and snorted both lines of powder.

Boom! went her brain. God that feels good, she thought. 
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Sheffield – August, 1976







Callum Colhoun was in Sheffield and up to his usual tricks. He was a pugnacious advocate in court. His abrasive style earned him enemies amongst both judges and barrister colleagues. Callum did not care. He liked sailing close to the wind and seeing what he could get away with. His motto may have been – ‘Rules are there to be broken.’

Those rules were many. He had been practising at the Criminal Bar of England and Wales for fifteen years. Now aged forty, he was often instructed as counsel in serious cases such as murder. Callum had developed a niche acting as leading junior counsel whereby he was assisted by a second junior counsel in serious cases. He was an expert in manipulating the legal aid gravy train to maximise his earnings. 

Callum was in the middle of a murder trial in Sheffield, a trial expected to last ten weeks. His only problem was he was also instructed to appear simultaneously in another trial in London. The logistics involved would have forced most to choose between one trial or the other, not Callum. He had his second junior cover for him so he could pocket two lucrative sets of fees. A ploy that came unstuck when the two trial judges were dining in their Inn and one casually mentioned the upstart Colhoun. Their sharp legal minds did not take long to work out his deception. A brief letter from the Bar Council summoned Callum to explain himself. The summons was one more thing on Callum’s mind. There was also a statutory demand from the Inland Revenue to deal with. He didn’t worry about much but the tax demand gave him sleepless nights as he had not filed a tax return in fifteen years. Callum responded to these concerns by using more cocaine, drinking more alcohol and getting laid by more hookers.

“How is Lady C these days?” inquired Dash. He was the drug dealer Caroline had passed on to Callum. 

“Good as always but never mind her. I have customers waiting. Where is my order for the half kilo?”

“Man, don’t be so impatient. You only ordered the product three days ago. I’ll meet you in the usual place. Tuesday at 4 pm. Okay?”

“Right. Be there.” 

“I will… one thing… do you want a new girl? Pretty young Thai thing.”

“Yeah. A change is as good as a rest. So yeah. Tell her to come to my room, ten tonight.”

“Usual room? Same hotel?”

“Yes,” Callum replied then replaced the handset on his phone in the Sheffield hotel room. This was his ‘home from home.’ He spent half of his working year there following his chosen line of work; defending killers and rapists as a fearless London barrister. Callum upset the local cosy arrangements between judiciary and local counsel, the latter always mindful of reputation. Callum wanted money, not the reputation. 

Callum was content for Dash to deliver the cocaine the following week because he was under no pressure from barristers who had placed orders for the coke. He had enough for his personal use to last him until then so all was good. He decided to stay in the hotel that evening and have dinner courtesy of room service while he worked on some witness statements preparing to cross-examine a prosecution witness the following day.

The chicken cordon bleu remained half-eaten on the table in the centre of Callum’s hotel room. There were also several empty cans of strong lager. The bottle of malt whiskey was on the table but as yet intact. Callum glanced at his watch when he heard the faint knock on the door. It was exactly 10 pm. Dressed only in black boxer shorts and navy blue tee, he opened the door to see Mai standing there, smiling.

“Dash sent me,” Mai said.

Callum did not answer. He held out his hand to Mai and gently pulled her inside his room. Callum discovered Mai was nineteen years old and had arrived in the UK from Thailand last month, ostensibly to work in a restaurant. They talked for a while, drank whiskey together then snorted a few lines of cocaine.

Four Sheffield detectives hauled Callum from his hotel bed. They saw the battered face and body of Mai slumped on the hotel room’s carpeted floor. The hotel staff had heard the screams at 4 am so called the police. They summoned an ambulance to tend to the severe facial injuries Callum had inflicted on his victim. They also handcuffed Callum and took him to the police station.

At 8 pm the same day the police released Callum on bail to return to the police station so they could gather medical evidence to substantiate Mai’s allegations of rape and causing grievous bodily harm. They imposed a condition of his bail that he was to return to London and come nowhere near Sheffield until his next appointment with the Sheffield detectives. Callum Colhoun’s problems were intensifying; tax problems; professional discipline problems; the prospect of many years imprisonment for raping and inflicting grievous bodily harm on a pretty Thai call girl. Dash was furious when he heard of it. He believed Callum Colhoun was totally out of control. He had gone too far this time. 
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